IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

)	
)	Case No. 71,134
,	•
)	
)	
)	
)	
/	
))))) /

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the First Judicial Circuit, in and for Okaloosa County, Florida

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

James E. Moore MOORE & MOORE P.A. P. O. Box 746 102 Bayshore Drive Niceville, Florida 32578 (904) 678-1121

Ralph A. Peterson BEGGS & LANE P. O. Box 12950 Pensacola, FL 32576

Attorneys for Warner Cable Communications, Inc.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, WARNER CABLE COMMUNICATIONS, INC., Defendant below, will be referred to herein as "Warner." Appellee, CITY OF NICEVILLE, a municipal corporation of the State of Florida, Plaintiff below, will be referred to herein as "the City." References to the Appendix will be denoted (A. [page number]). The transcript of the final hearing below constitutes the first 179 pages of the Appendix, so that the pagination of the transcript itself corresponds to that of the Appendix.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This is an appeal of a bond validation proceeding, from the Circuit Court of the First Judicial Circuit, in and for Okaloosa County, Florida. This Court has jurisdiction to consider this appeal pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(2), of the Florida Constitution (which grants jurisdiction to this Court to review cases when provided by general law), and Section 75.08, Florida Statutes (1985) (which provides for review by this Court of bond validation proceedings). See also , Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(1)(B)(i).

The City filed its complaint for validation of bonds on August 26, 1987.

(A. 180). The purpose of the bonds the City sought to have validated was to fund an amount not to exceed \$2,000,000 for the ownership, acquisition, construction and operation of a municipally-owned cable television system. (A. 180). Under a franchise contract with the City and under the provisions of the Cable Communications Policy Act of 1984, 47 U.S.C. § 521 et seq. ("the Cable Act"), Warner has already constructed and is operating a cable television system which is currently providing cable service to the citizens of the City of Niceville. (A. 47, 464-477). The State of Florida filed its Answer on October 1, 1986. (A. 214). Warner became an active party in the proceeding pursuant to Section 75.07, Florida Statutes (1985), by answering the complaint on October 6, 1986. (A. 211).

In its answer, Warner asserted several affirmative defenses. (A. 211-213.) Paragraph 9 of the affirmative defenses challenged the City's assertion that it had duly enacted Ordinance No. 583 and was authorized to enact Ordinance No. 583 and issue revenue bonds. Warner alleged that the City had not complied with the requirements of law, the municipal expenditures provision of the City's Charter, Section 1.02(h) of Ordinance No. 511, as a condition precedent to enacting Ordinance No. 583 and issuing revenue bonds.

(A. 211). Paragraph 10 of the affirmative defenses alleged that the City is not authorized under the Cable Communications Act to issue revenue bonds for a municipally owned cable system since the City is not authorized under the Cable Act to obtain an ownership interest and has not complied with the requirements of law under the Cable Act. (A. 212). In response to allegations in the City's complaint that no ad valorem taxes would be required to be levied for payment of the principal or the interest on the revenue bonds, Warner asserted in paragraph 11 of the affirmative defenses that the bonds should not be validated since the bond issue had not been approved by referendum vote and would actually require pledging of ad valorem taxes by the City. (A. 212). Finally, in paragraph 12 of the affirmative defenses, Warner alleged that the City acted arbitrarily and in bad faith and had abused its discretion in enacting Orinance No. 583, in seeking to issue revenue bonds to fund a municipally owned cable system, and in going forward with the project and bond issue since the City knew such action was not in compliance with the requirements of law and was not economically feasible. (A. 213).

On November 25, 1986, more than twenty days after Warner's answer and affirmative defenses were filed, the City made an oral motion to strike these affirmative defenses. (A. 425). The trial court granted the City's oral motion, and the affirmative defenses in paragraphs 9, 10, 11, and 12 were stricken as not stating legal defenses in a bond validation proceding. (A. 154, 425). Warner subsequently moved the trial court to reconsider its ruling against Warner on the affirmative defenses in paragraphs 10 and 11. However, the trial court on March 16, 1987, expressly affirmed its striking of those two affirmative defenses and ruled that it would neither consider nor address in the bond validation proceedings the issues and matters raised by those affirmative defenses, again noting that they were not legal defenses within

the scope of bond validation review. (A. 437-438). Thus, by its orders of November 25, 1986, and March 16, 1987, the trial court expressly excluded from the pleadings, as well as the validation litigation itself, issues and matters raised by the affirmative defenses in paragraphs 9, 10, 11, and 12 of Warner's answers.

The City's complaint alleged that its charter had been amended by Ordinance No. 511 (the "1983 Charter") (A. 180), but Warner denied that the 1983 Charter properly and legally amended the City's legislative Charter (the "1955 Charter"). (A. 211). Warner filed with the court a certificate from the Secretary of State to the effect that the 1983 Charter had never been filed with the Department of State. (A. 218). The City's clerk, George Ireland, later testified at hearing that the 1983 Charter was not filed until November 25, 1986. (A. 9).

Because Warner had denied the validity of the 1983 Charter, the City introduced the 1955 Charter, Chapter 31034, Laws of Florida (1955). (A. 8, 227-242). Ireland testified that the adoption procedures in both Charters were substantially the same. (A. 10). The 1983 Charter required that a proposed ordinance be read on three separate meetings and that notice be published two times commencing at least fourteen days and concluding no more than seven days prior to adoption. (A. 251). The clerk testified that the publication was done but the City did not introduce the advertisement. (A. 13). The ordinance was read on three separate occasions. (A. 13). Section 9 of the 1955 Charter specified three separate readings and required, for authentication, that the ordinance, within ten days after passage, must be posted in three public places. (A. 231). The City presented no proof that the required posting was accomplished. Section 10 of the 1955 Charter limited the effective date of an ordinance, except for specified subject, to thirty days

after passage. (A. 231). Ordinance No. 583 provided that it was effective immediately upon passage. (A. 251).

Ireland testified that he had prepared the minutes, (A. 276), of a special meeting of the City Council on August 27, 1985, and that at that meeting there was a discussion concerning the provisions of the City's 1983 Charter, Ordinance No. 511, Section 1.02(h). (A. 38). Section 1.02(h) states the requirements to be followed by the City before it takes action concerning expenditures of funds in excess of \$100,000 for a single public purpose. (A. 36-38). The portion of the City's Charter referred to above states that the City shall have the power:

To expend money for a single public purpose in a sum not to exceed \$100,000 unless such expenditure in excess of \$100,000 shall be contained in the budget or such fiscal year or approved by referendum vote or constitute an emergency as hereinafter defined.

Ordinance No. 511, § 1.02(h) (A. 245). Ireland testified that he recommended the entire \$2,000,000 be budgeted for the cable television project, "which placed the City in a position to issue a lesser amount for the project without reopening budget hearings," and that the suggestion was moved, seconded and approved. (A. 38). There has never been a referendum vote concerning the expenditure of \$2,000,000 for a cable television system (A. 38), and the adoption of the cable television bond issue ordinance has never been regarded nor treated as an "emergency" by the City. (A. 38-39).

Although Warner sought to elicit evidence concerning the validity of the budget ordinance (Ordinance No. 581) in which the expenditure of \$2,000,000 for a cable television system was included, the trial court sustained an objection to introduction of such tesimony as irrelevant and immaterial, apparently based on the trial court's earlier ruling striking paragraph 9 of the affirmative defenses. (A. 46). As a result of the trial court's ruling,

Warner proffered the testimony of Ireland regarding whether Ordinance No. 581 (A. 277), was validly enacted. (A. 57). The City's 1983 Charter (Ordinance No. 511) requires that emergency ordinances contain a declaration stating that an emergency exists and a description of the emergency in clear and specific terms. Ordinance No. 511, § 3.11(a). (A. 57, 253). No such clear and specific description of an emergency is contained in Ordinance No. 581, the budget. (A. 277). Even though the 1983 Charter requires all emergency ordinances to be reconsidered at the third regular meeting following the passage of an emergency ordinance, there was no notice that the budget ordinance (Ordinance No. 581) would be reconsidered nor was the budget reconsidered at the third regular meeting following adoption of the emergency budget. (A. 59-62, 253, 405-423).

The project for which the City was seeking validation of bonds is a municipally owned and operated cable television station which would overbuild and compete with Warner's currently operating cable system in Niceville. (A. 17, 18, 47, 151, 161, 289, 464-477). The City declared in the bond ordinance that the project was "the acquisition and construction of the system as more particularly described in a financial/technical study prepared for the City of Niceville, Florida, by Cosmic Communications, Inc. dated October 2, 1985, as such study may be revised or supplemented from time to time." Ordinance No. 583 at 4, § 2. (A. 186, 17). The City introduced the financial/technical study prepared by Cosmic Communications, Inc. (the "Cosmic study"), with revisions made subsequent to October 2, 1985, as its Exhibit 7 and as its plans and specifications for the project. (A. 18-19, 23, 287-328, 404A, 404B, 404C, 404D, 404E, 404F). Exhibit 7 which the City introduced in its case in chief was in fact an incomplete copy of the Cosmic study, containing only 38 pages. (A. 121-123, 287-328, 404A-404F). Thus, when the City rested its case

and Warner moved for a directed verdict/dismissal, the trial court only had 38 pages of the Cosmic study before it. (A. 109-116).

Along with the Cosmic study, the City's plans and specification on file were a preliminary feasibility report performed by M & T Cable, Inc. of June, 1985 (the "M & T report") (A. 20, 23, 269-275), the Fray report (on financing the project) (A. 22, 23, 445-451, 452-458), a tower site layout, a preliminary system design, a pole attachment permit application, and a Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) tower permit. (A. 23). The M & T report and the Fray report were introduced into evidence, however, the other documents delineated above were not introduced nor admitted into evidence. (A. 20, 22, 23).

The M & T report was not actually a plan or specification for the project since it was prepared before the Cosmic study, which Ordinance No. 583 designated as the project plan and description; the M &T report neither purports to supplement the Cosmic study nor does its cable system proposals even closely relate to any of the Cosmic study's plans; and the City and Cosmic regarded this study only as a preliminary feasibility study and not plans and specifications. (A. 20, 269, 306). Likewise, the Fray report does not actually constitute a plan or specifications for the project, since it only discusses the financing scheme available to the City for funding the project. (A. 22, 445-451). Thus, the only actual plans and specifications for the project before the trial court for determining public purpose was

^{1.} The City also introduced a memorandum report by Councilmember Gary Brown, Exhibit 9 (A. 441-444), which is merely a summary of some findings prepared before the Cosmic study and which the City has not included as part of its plans and specifications for the project. (A. 21, 23).

Cosmic study, and indeed, this is the only plan Fray reviewed for devising his financing plan. (A. 80).

The City presented only one city official, Ireland, as a witness to testify about the City's project for a municipally owned cable television system overbuild since Ireland was "just as qualified as...any other city official" to testify about the planned project. (A. 17). Ireland explained that along with the usual entertainment programming services provided by cable television systems, the City intended to have a government access channel and conceivably an education channel. (A. 25). Ireland believed that the City's system would provide security capability for fire alarms and burglar alarms, a service the City presently provides by using telephone lines. (A-26). He also indicated that the City's project might provide bi-directional capability for medical alert, fire, and security-type services. (A. 26). Ireland opined that along with giving the City an opportunity to synchronize its five traffic signal lights (A. 26-27, 97), the cable system may be used in the future to also shine shoes. (A. 27).

However, having testified to the purported inclusion of these features and services which were ancillary to the traditional cable system news and entertainment services provided by private enterprise, Ireland, pleading a lack of knowledge as to what the Cosmic study actually provided, was unable to show in the Cosmic study any specifications, plans or provisions which proved the actual inclusion of the ancillary services as part of the City's system. Significantly, Ireland could not even show that the actual, direct use of the City's system was to provide anything but the same services provided by private companies. (A. 52-53). Ireland demurred that it was beyond his knowledge and "expertise" as to what, if any, equipment, plans, or expenditures were included for these ancillary services in the Cosmic study.

(A. 52-53, 54-55).

Ireland's lack of knowledge and inability to point to anything in the City's actual plans for the project which could show where these ancillary services were specified and included was echoed in the testimony of each and every one of the City's witnesses. The police chief, Ed Holloway, had absolutely no knowledge whether there had been any costs or expenditures actually allocated by the City in its cable television plan for providing equipment and systems for fire alarms, medical alert alarms, intrusion alarms, or traffic monitoring systems. (A. 99, 100). All Holloway could state is that he had been told that the City's cable television system might have the capability to provide some ancillary services, but he was not aware of whether the City's plans actually provided for such services and whether they would be constructed. (A. 100-101).

Likewise, Mike Wright, the City's fire chief, testified that he had been told that the City's cable system would provide fire alarms (A.105); however, he too had no knowledge whether the fire alarm system had actually been included in the City's plans and expenditures for the municipal cable television overbuild.(A.106-107). While Wright stated that he thought the City's cable television system would permit his department to receive educational services (seminars, lectures, etc.) via satellite (A.105-106), there are no provisions in the Cosmic study and City's plans for

^{2.} Indeed, in proffered testimony of the City's cable consultant Thomas K. Miller, the author of the Cosmic study, it was disclosed that such educational satellite services were not part of the City's plan. (A. 136).

such a system.

William Fray, the City's financial advisor, did review the Cosmic study, but not in detail, while he was structuring the City's financing plan for the bond issue. (A. 80, 82) However, he, like the City's other witnessess, knew nothing about what services, equipment, and expenditures were actually being planned by the City. (A. 81-82). Fray explained that as to the costs of the constuction and operation of the City's project, he relied solely on statements and representations as to the amounts from the City's cable consultant, Thomas K. Miller of Cosmic Communications, Inc. (A. 81-82, 91). Although Fray, like Ireland, deferred questions and explanations to Miller as to the actual plans for ancillary services (the purported "public purpose" services), the City never called Miller as a witness in their case and never inquired of Miller about the actual direct use of the project when he was called by Warner. (A. 140).

^{3.} Warner called Miller, the City's cable consultant, as a witness to demonstrate that the actual, direct use of the City's cable system overbuild as he had planned it was not for providing the ancillary services claimed by Ireland and the City, but was for merely providing a competing system to provide the entertainment and news services already being provided by Warner. The trial court refused to permit Warner to so inquire, and Warner proffered the testimony in the trial judge's absence. (A. 126-137). Miller's proffered testimony corroborates that the actual, direct use of the City's system is not for providing the ancillary services but is to provide non-public purpose services which are provided by private enterprise. See also Argument I infra.

After the City rested its case, Warner moved for a directed verdict/dismissal of the City's action for the City's failure to demonstrate by any testimony or evidence that the actual, direct use of the City's system was anything other than for providing traditional entertainment and news services already being provided by Warner's existing service under the Cable Act. Warner contended that the City failed to prove any paramount public purpose which would be served by the City's system. (A. 109-111, 117). The trial court denied Warner's motion. (A. 117).

Only one witness that appeared before the trial court was qualified as an expert in the area of cable television — Edward Rutter. (A. 158-161). Rutter explained that he had reviewed the City's cable television studies, including the Cosmic study (A. 161), and testified as follows regarding existence of non-entertainment channels and services provided for therein:

- A In my opinion the system, as proposed and allowed for in the proposal was basically an entertainment service providing the same types of entertainment, information and such that was already in place in kind with the existing system. It $\frac{\text{talked about}}{\text{toridental}} \text{ providing some other ancillary services} \text{ or } \frac{\text{incidental}}{\text{incidental}} \text{ services, but there was } \frac{\text{no}}{\text{provision}} \text{ in the documents, in that report, to provide those services.}$
- Q What kind of ancillary services are you talking about?
- A A traffic monitoring, fire intrusion, security alarm services, medical alert, water and sewer lift monitoring. . . .

- Q Now as for the governmental aspects of the plan or at least in the records that you reviewed concerning monitoring systems, traffic monitor systems and those things that we've talked about, in reviewing the plans and specifications did you find any provisions for that in the actual plans?
- A I saw no provisions for staffing nor the funds to acquire the facilities in order to accomplish that.
- Q Does the plan, though, include a bi-directional system?
 - A The plan discusses a bi-directional system,

second year of the franchise?

A It said it did. It didn't show it in the proformas.

(A. 165, 167) (Emphasis supplied).

Rutter testified that an "overbuild" situation in the cable industry exists where one operator presently services a community and a second or third operator choose to provide similar service to the same area. (A. 161-162). The trial court refused to let Rutter testify as to whether the City's proposed cable television system would result in an "overbuild" in relation to Warner's existing system. (A. 162-163). Rutter was allowed to testify, however, that the proposed system laid out in the Cosmic study was "primarily an entertainment service" and that in Rutter's opinion the project would not serve a public purpose. (A. 164).

Warner attempted to offer further testimony by Rutter, concerning the issue of public purpose, (A. 167-168), however, the trial court erroneously disallowed such testimony as irrelevant. (A. 168). Warner proffered the testimony, and Rutter opined that the basis for his opinion that the proposed cable television system would not serve a public purpose was as follows:

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