IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

WARNER CABLE COMMUNICATIONS, :

INC., et al.,

Case No. 71,134

Defendants-Intervenors/

Appellants,

-vs-

CITY OF NICEVILLE, FLORIDA,

a municipal corporation of the State of Florida,

Plaintiff/Appellee.

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the First Judicial Circuit, in and for Okaloosa County, Florida

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Don J. Caton William D. Wells Post Office Box 12910 Pensacola, Florida 32521-0073 (904) 435-1615

Gillis E. Powell, Sr. POWELL, POWELL & POWELL, P.A. Post Office Box 277 Niceville, Florida 32578 (904) 678-2757

Attorneys for Appellee

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

Id. at 154.

In the Monroe County case, the cable supplier, Cable-Vision, renewed its public purpose objections before the Federal Communications Commission in Washington, D.C. The FCC provided appropriate licenses to Monroe County to construct its television facility and the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia subsequently ruled that Monroe County was fulfilling a sufficient public purpose in undertaking the project. See Tele-Media Corp. v. FCC, 697 F.2d 402 (D.C. Cir. 1983).

When challenging a legislative determination of public purpose, the burden is on the party making such a challenge to show that the legislative determination of public purpose was so clearly wrong as to be beyond the power of the legislative body.

Linscott v. Orange County Industrial Development Authority, 443 So.2d 97 (Fla. 1983). No such evidence was

offered in this case. The evidence that was offered by Warner was not on this point but instead went toward other issues discussed below in Part IV hereof.

Warner also seems to argue that municipal public purpose only encompasses governmental functions of a municipality. This argument is clearly erroneous since the law of Florida is clear that the issue of municipal public purpose encompasses not only governmental functions performed by a municipality but also those proprietary in nature.

These cases indicate that not only does a municipality in Florida have the power to engage in proprietary functions so long as such power is exercised for "municipal purposes" but also the mere fact that the city operated service competes with a privately owned business does not invalidate the city's enterprise. See Starlight Corp. v. City of Miami Beach; City Gate Garage v. City of Jacksonville.

<u>City of Winter Park v. Montesi</u>, 448 So.2d 1242, 1244 (5th DCA 1984).

The <u>City of Winter Park</u> case is informative on several points raised by Warner, including the issue of municipalities competing with private businesses. The City submits this case and the other cases cited therein to the Court as one of the City's best authorities for several of the issues raised in the case at bar.

One of the legal principles set forth in the <u>City of Winter Park</u> case is that it is proper and legal for a municipality to engage in private business even though it competes with private enterprise. Examples from Florida cases are as follows: <u>City of Winter Park v. Montesi, supra, sale of sinkhole photographs;</u>

Gate City Garage v. City of Jacksonville, 66 So.2d 653 (Fla. S.Ct. 1953), parking garage; Starlight Corporation v. City of Miami Beach, 57 So.2d 6 (Fla. S.Ct. 1952), owning and operating auditorium including booking attractions; Sunny Isles Fishing Pier v. Dade County, 79 So.2d 667 (Fla. S.Ct. 1955), fishing facilities in a public park.

In a local case, the trial court below, approximately ten years ago, made a determination that Niceville's neighbor, the City of Valparaiso, had a sufficient public purpose underlying its construction and operation of a cable television system. Jack W. Manning, et al. v. City of Valparaiso, No. 76-521-CA 01. In that Order, the lower court determined that "Whether or not the City of Valparaiso should enter into a TV cable business, in the opinion of this Court, is a proper governmental function, the wisdom of that decision lying within the bosom of the members of that commission. This Court does not find that there has been an abuse of discretion in making that determination." Finally, nothing contained in the Cable Communications Policy Act of 1984, wherein Congress specifically authorizes municipalities and other franchising authorities to own and operate cable television systems, prohibits the City from issuing the bonds in question. The pertinent section reads as follows:

- (1) Subject to paragraph (2), a State or franchising authority may hold any ownership interest in any cable system.
- (2) Any State or franchising authority shall not exercise any editorial control regarding the content of any cable service on a cable system

in which such governmental entity holds ownership interest (other than programming on any channel designated for educational or governmental use), unless such control is exercised through an entity separate from the franchising authority.

47 U.S.C. §533(e).

Warner argued that the issue of editorial control as set forth in the act somehow is an issue in this bond validation proceeding. The plain language of the act shows that exercise of editorial control is not and cannot be an issue unless and until the City actually builds and starts operating a cable television system. This is something that the City has not done since it cannot do so unless and until this bond validation proceeding is completed with a favorable ruling in the City's behalf and the bonds are actually sold. Therefore, the trial court properly ruled this issue to be collateral to a bond validation proceeding.

In light of these authorities, it can hardly be disputed that the City of Niceville has, both in fact and in law, a valid public purpose underlying its intended construction and operation of a municipal cable television system.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY RULED AGAINST ALL OF THE OBJECTIONS SET FORTH BY WARNER AS TO ISSUES WHICH ARE DEEMED TO BE COLLATERAL TO A BOND VALIDATION PROCEEDING.

In the affirmative defenses contained in its answer to the complaint, in its motion for summary judgment, motion for abatement, and in its motion for reconsideration of the rulings entered by the lower court in its November 25, 1986, order, Warner sought rulings by the lower court in the bond validation proceeding pertaining to the following issues:

- a. Whether the City can establish the economic and financial feasibility of the cable television project.
- b. Whether the City can establish public necessity of the cable television project.
- c. Whether the City has complied with 47 U.S.C. §533 in establishing an independent entity for programming purposes.
- d. Whether the practical and actual effect of the bond issue, financing, and security is to pledge the ad valorem taxing power of the City.

These arguments are disposed of by the cases set forth below.

In <u>DeSha v. City of Waldo</u>, <u>supra</u>, the municipality was seeking validation of bonds to finance improvements to its water supply and wastewater collection and treatment systems. The intervenor defendants interposed arguments similar to those being proffered by Warner in the instant case. First, the defendants in that case argued that there were certain flaws in the financing scheme of the City of Waldo's water project and that additional steps would have to be taken in the future to

generate sufficient revenues to satisfy the bond obligations. This Court replied, "As such it is a collateral matter beyond the scope of judicial scrutiny in bond validation proceedings," citing City of Gainesville v. State, 366 So.2d 1164 (Fla. 1979). Id. at 444 So.2d 17. Second, the defendants argued that the economic feasibility of the water and sewer project had not been sufficiently established. This Court replied:

The financial strength of the project, however, is not a matter within the scope of this court's review. Our review is limited to the questions of "whether the issuing body had the power to act and whether it exercised that power in accordance with law." (Citation omitted.) The fact prospective bond purchasers might find the project questionable because of the a valid lack of mandatory connection ordinance is not a matter of judicial concern in a bond validation proceeding. "It was never intended that proceedings instituted under the authority of this chapter to validate governmental securities would be used for the purpose of deciding collateral issues or those issues not going directly to the power to issue the securities and the validity of the proceedings with relation thereto." (Citation omitted.)

Id. at 444 So.2d 18.

Third, the defendants argued that the economic feasibility of the project was so insubstantial because the future revenues of the system were insufficient to pay the bonds, that the city would have to devote ad valorem tax revenues to their payment which would have required a referendum vote. Again, this Court replied, "This argument is without merit. The mere possibility that the city may sometime in the future choose to expend general revenues to meet its bond obligations does not render 'payable from' ad valorem the bonds taxation. (Citation omitted.)" Ibid. Finally, the defendants argued that the plaintiffs had failed to establish the <u>necessity</u> or need for the project. To this argument, this Court replied that the issue of public need does not arise and need not be resolved by the court in a bond validation proceeding:

They argued that the expansion project is unnecessary, that the future mandatory connection ordinance will arbitrarily restrict property rights, and that the purpose of the project is to promote the growth and development of the city. We reject the appellants' arguments because the question of need for expansion and improvement of Waldo's water and sewer systems is a matter to be determined by the governing body of that community. In Town of Medley v. State, 162 So.2d 257 (Fla. 1964), this court stated:

"We have consistently ruled that questions of business policy and judgment incident to the issuance of revenue issues are beyond the scope of judicial interference and are the responsibility and prerogative of the governing body of the governmental unit in the absence of fraud or violation of legal duty. (Citation omitted.)

"In State v. Dade County, supra, Mr. Justice Drew speaking for this court explained that the courts do not have the authority substitute their judgment for that officials who have determined that revenue certificates should be issued for a purpose deemed by them to be in the best interest of those whom they represent. The responsibility of the courts in such proceedings is primarily that of determining whether the issuing body has the power to act and whether it exercised that power in accordance with law.

"A contrary holding would make an oligarchy of the courts giving them the power in matters such as this to determine what in their opinion was good or bad for a city and its inhabitants thereby depriving the inhabitants of the right to make such decisions for themselves as is intended under our system of government." 162 So.2d at 258-259.

Id. at 18-19.

Further authority for the legal principles set forth above is set forth in the quotes from this Court's decisions set forth below.

The court is concerned only with the legal power of the plaintiff to issue these bonds, not the political or economic wisdom of the Project purposed to be financed with the proceeds of the bonds.

Penn v. Pensacola-Escambia Governmental Center Authority, 311 So.2d 97 (Fla. 1975).

> Montesi claims that State v. City of Miami and other cases cited above stand for the proposition that a city may act where there is need of a collective effort by a public entity because private enterprise could not or was not likely to take as effective action as could be taken by the city. Montesi claims that here private enterprise was just as capable of selling the souvenirs and there was no need for the city to undertake such activity. However, this is not the test for determining whether an activity is a municipal or public purpose and the cases clearly indicate this. For instance, in Sunny Isles Fishing Pier v. Dade County, Gate City Garage v. City of Jacksonville, and Starlight Corp. v. City of Miami Beach, the complaining parties were private businesses already in existence which were providing identical services to those sought to be undertaken by the municipalities. The Supreme Court on each occasion upheld the cities authority to engage in such activities and as noted above, Starlight Corp., and Gate City Garage, specifically declared that where such activities served a public or municipal purpose, it was not a valid objection that the city would be engaged in competition with private enterprise.

City of Winter Park v. Montesi, supra at 1245.

Finally, questions concerning the financial and economic feasibility of a purposed plan are to be resolved at the executive or administrative level and are beyond the scope of judicial review in a validation proceeding. The scope of judicial inquiry is limited to whether the public body had authority to incur the obligation, whether the purpose of the obligation is legal, and whether

the proceedings authorizing the obligation were proper. (Citations omitted.)

State v. City of Daytona Beach, 431 So.2d 981, 983 (Fla. 1983).

Warner in its brief relies heavily upon the case of Orange County Industrial Development Authority v. State, 427 So.2d 174 (Fla. 1983). This reliance is misplaced. As stated very clearly on page 179 of the Orange County case, a critical point was that municipal ownership of the project in question was lacking. The court then distinguished the factual situation of that case with the case of State v. City of Jacksonville, supra, in that municipal ownership was present in the City of Jacksonville case. As stated by the court on page 179,

Appellant's reliance on State v. City 50 So.2d 532 (Fla. 1951), Jacksonville, misplaced. While there we allowed the issuance of municipal revenue certificates to finance the addition of television equipment for a radio station, that station was owned not by a private party but by the City of Jacksonville. presence of municipal ownership was significant in our finding a public purpose in the project. Municipal ownership is absent in the project sub hold, then, that the We proposed television station does not serve a paramount public purpose and hence is proscribed by our Constitution. (Emphasis supplied.)

Since the critical point of municipal ownership was present in the case before the lower court, the <u>City of Jacksonville</u> case is applicable rather than the <u>Orange County</u> case as submitted by Warner.

Other cases cited by intervenor Warner such as Storer Cable

T.V. of Florida, Inc. v. Summerwinds Apartments Assoc., Ltd.,

493 So.2d 417 (Fla. 1986), Telepromptor Corporation v. Hawkins,

384 So.2d 648 (Fla. 1980), Devon-Aire Villas Homeowners Ass'n,

No. 4, Inc. v. Americable Assocs., Ltd., 490 So.2d 60 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985) are not applicable herein. Most of those cases deal with the question of whether a cable television company has been empowered by the Florida legislature to exercise of the power of eminent domain. The Florida courts have stated that, if a cable television company has been declared by the Florida legislature or the courts to be a "public utility" that the power of eminent domain necessarily follows. It is not necessary for this Court to make any such determination since the legislative body of the City has made the only necessary legislative determination in this case and that necessary legislation determination does not involve the exercise of the power of eminent domain nor the question of whether the proposed cable television system of the City is a "public utility." None of these questions go toward any of the issues of this case which issues involve the power to issue bonds and not the power to exercise eminent domain. The powers exercised by the City are authorized pursuant to Art. VII, Sec. 2(b) of the Florida Constitution and Ch. 166 of the Florida Statutes which grant home rule powers to municipalities. As stated in \$166.021(2), Fla. Stat.,

"Municipal purpose" means any activity or power which may be exercised by the state or its political subdivisions.

This home rule power of the City is not contingent upon a legislative finding by the State of Florida since a municipality may make the same legislative finding for its citizens that the legislature of the State of Florida could make for citizens of the rest of the state. All of the cases cited by Warner imply

that the legislature of the State of Florida has the <u>power</u> to make such a determination if it chooses to exercise that power. Under its home rule authority, the City has the same power to declare a municipal purpose for the citizens of the City even though the Florida legislature may not have made a determination to make such a declaration for all citizens of the State of Florida.

The estoppel argument raised by Warner on pages 22 and 23 of its brief is set forth for the first time on appeal. There were no estoppel arguments raised in the trial court. Therefore, this issue may not be properly raised for the first time on appeal.

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